IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-667

NOEL THOMAS PATTON, ET AL.,

Petitioners,

vs.

KERA TECHNOLOGY, INC., ET AL.,

Respondents.

Appeal from the Fifth District Court of Appeal

Lower Case No. 5D03-1968

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Attorneys for Petitioners

INTRODUCTION

Throughout this Initial Brief on the Merits, the Plaintiffs/Appellants below, NOEL THOMAS PATTON, EVE M. PATTON and EDWIN W. DEAN, shall be referred to as "Petitioners" or "Plaintiffs." The Defendants/Appellees below, KERA TECHNOLOGY, INC., GEORGE CHENG-HAO HUANG and GABRIEL SIMON, shall be referred to as "Respondents" or "Defendants."¹ Citation to the Record on Appeal shall be designated "R. ____."

 $^{^{\}rm 1}$ Defendant below, UNIDATA, INC., is not a party to this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioners seek reversal of the decision rendered by the Fifth District Court of Appeal on February 18, 2005, in *Patton v. Kera Technology, Inc.*, 895 So. 2d 1175 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005), affirming an Order of Dismissal for Lack of Prosecution entered by the Honorable Renee Roche in the Ninth Judicial Circuit in and for Orange County, Florida on April 8, 2003. (R. 304-305).

For the reasons articulated herein, Petitioners established record activity, or in the alternative, good cause sufficient to preclude dismissal of their case for lack of prosecution. Accordingly, this Court should reverse the decision below.

A. <u>Background of the Dispute</u>

The underlying business dispute between the parties began sometime in 1998 when Petitioners became interested in investing in an ophthalmic refractive surgery center and, in so doing, attempted to acquire Respondent, Kera Technology, Inc. ("KTI"), a Taiwanese corporation, and its patents and other intellectual property related to innovative laser eye surgery technology. (R 1-7). Respondents entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with KTI's principals that resulted in execution of promissory notes in the amount of \$300,000.00 in Petitioners' favor.

On December 10, 1998, after relations between the parties had deteriorated, Petitioners brought suit against Respondents seeking payment under the promissory notes in the amount of \$300,000.00, plus interest, and consequential damages in excess of \$250,000.00, for breach of the Memorandum of Understanding and for fraud. (R. 1-37).

Petitioners had retained the services of local counsel, Mac D. Heavener, III, Esquire, to file the Complaint on their behalf. (R 1-37). Although not yet granted Pro-Hac-Vice status, Heavener included Petitioners' out of state counsel, J. Marbury Rainer, Esquire and Charles W. Lyons, Esquire, on the certificate of service. (R. 37).

After Respondents' Answer to the Complaint had been filed, the trial court granted Pro-Hac-Vice admission to Rainer and Lyons on March 16, 1999, as co-counsel for Petitioners. (R. 40-49). Sometime thereafter, but before November 17, 1999, Petitioners retained the services of local attorney, Terry L. McCollough, to appear on their behalf in substitution of attorney Heavener. (R. 51). Rainer and Lyons, however, remained as co-counsel and appeared on the signature block included on the certificate of service on most, if not all, of the papers filed by McCollough through 2001.²

² Such papers included: a Motion to Compel Production filed on November 17, 1999, (R. 50-51), a Notice of Filing Original Interrogatory Answers filed on August 1, 2000, (R. 57), a Motion for Leave to Amend filed on March 21, 2001, (R. 89-117), and a Notice of Hearing on Respondents' Motions to Dismiss and Strike on May 3, 2001, (R. 131-32).

Respondents' counsel, on the other hand, failed to include Petitioners' out of state co-counsel on the certificate of service or otherwise failed to communicate with or serve Petitioners' co-counsel on all filings, save one Response to Plaintiffs' First Request for Production filed on December 30, 1999, until the more recent events giving rise to this appeal. (R. 52-53).

After conducting discovery in 1999-2000, including moving to compel production of various documents, (R. 50-88), McCollough filed a Motion to File Amended Complaint on March 28, 2001, including additional counts against Respondents and additional claims for fraudulent conveyance, civil remedies for criminal actions and constructive trust against Respondents and an additional defendant, Unidata, Inc. ("Unidata"). (R. 89-117). The trial court granted Petitioners' Motion and Unidata was served with the Amended Complaint on April 17, 2001. (R. 199-126).

B. Pending Motions to Dismiss Amended Complaint

On May 1, 2001, Respondent, Simon, filed a Motion to Dismiss Amended Complaint and to Strike, (R. 125-26), and Respondents, KTI and Huang, filed their Motion to Dismiss Amended Complaint on May 2, 2005, (R. 127-30). On May 3, 2001, McCollough filed a Notice for Hearing setting Respondents' motions for hearing before the Honorable James C. Hauser on July 9, 2001. (R. 131-32). McCollough included co-counsel Rainer and Lyons on this Notice. (R. 132). On May 8, 2001, Unidata filed its Motion to Dismiss Counts IV, V and VI of the Amended Complaint. (R. 133-34).³

It is undisputed that a hearing, in fact, was conducted before Judge Hauser on July 9, 2001, on Respondents' Motions to Dismiss. It is further undisputed that the hearing was unreported and no court minutes exist documenting a ruling, if any, by the trial court on July 9, 2001.

Furthermore, although it was not included on the Notice of Hearing filed by McCollough on May 3, 2001, (because it was filed thereafter), it is unclear whether the trial court also entertained Unidata's Motion to Dismiss Counts IV, V and VI of the Amended Complaint. What is known, however, is that at no time did the trial court enter a written order memorializing the outcome of the July 9, 2001, hearing.

Meanwhile, Petitioners and co-counsel became increasingly dissatisfied and alarmed at McCollough's failure to communicate the status of their lawsuit since the July 9, 2001, hearing on Respondents' Motions to Dismiss the Amended Complaint. As early

 $^{^3}$ Unidata, like Respondents' counsel, however, failed to include Petitioners' co-counsel on the certificate of service of this Motion. (R. 134).

as July 12, 2001, however, in an email to Petitioners, McCollough attempted to mollify Petitioners and represented:

[S]orry for the delay in updating you. At the hearing [of July 9, 2001], the substance of the Amended Complaint was upheld by the Court. The judge is requiring some additional amendments in the form of more specific recitations of supporting facts and has asked for a short brief on one issue regarding the fraudulent conveyance action . . The only part the judge felt was inappropriate was the final count for constructive trust. Frankly, I am not sure that he is wrong in concluding that it is duplicative and I am not concerned with having that count alone dismissed.

I will be filing the brief and will keep you updated accordingly.

(R. 281).

After a series of other disgruntled emails from Petitioners regarding the status of their lawsuit, McCollough represented, or in hindsight, misrepresented, on October 7, 2001, that the brief had been filed and he was still awaiting the trial court's ruling on the motions to dismiss the Amended Complaint and, apparently, the court's ruling on certain outstanding discovery matters:

Everything that Judge Hauser had asked for has been filed and we are awaiting a decision on the remaining issues from the Motions directed to the Amended Complaint. I will write to him to see if I can prompt him into a decision. I know that it has been a while since the hearing and filing but he has been getting more and more tardy with the timing of decisions taken under advisement. Additionally, although we have discovery overdue and outstanding, he was to rule upon those issues at the same time and incorporate them into the order . . . (R. 284).

Later, as the case progressed into 2002 without an order on Respondents' dispositive motions, co-counsel made several attempts to contact McCollough to learn the status of the litigation to no avail. (R. 285-291).

By June 2002, co-counsel contacted Kenneth Mann, Esquire, (later to be substituted as local counsel for Petitioners), to review the court file and determine the status of the lawsuit. (Id.)

At that time, Mann confirmed that, indeed, no order had yet been entered on the July 9, 2001, hearing.⁴ Mann, however, had been assured by McCollough by telephone in June 2002, that Judge Hauser had taken the Motions to Dismiss under advisement without ruling and he communicated same to Petitioners. (R. 286, 290).

C. Motions to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute

On July 31, 2002, August 1 and August 7, 2002, however, Respondents filed their respective Motions and Amended Motions to Dismiss for Lack of Prosecution ("LOP Motions"), alleging no

⁴ It is now clear that McCollough's email representation on October 7, 2001, that a supplemental brief had been filed, was utterly fabricated as the court docket does not reflect the filing of any such brief nor did opposing counsel receive any brief from McCollough. (R. 289). Unfortunately, Petitioners, unaware at the time of its significance, failed to share the email with co-counsel or Mann until sometime before April 2003 when it was presented to the trial court in a motion for rehearing. (R. 278-84).

record activity within the last year. (R. 135-140).⁵ In each motion, however, Respondents acknowledged that a hearing was conducted on July 9, 2001, yet no order had been entered. In particular, Respondents, KTI and Huang, stated in their LOP Motion:

- 1. Various motions to dismiss were heard by the Court on July 9, 2001.
- It does not appear from the court file that any orders were submitted to or entered by the Court, as a result of the hearing.
- (R. 135, 139). Respondent, Simon, went on further to state:

This Court heard argument on Defendants' Motions to Dismiss on July 9, 2001. The Court ruled that Plaintiff's counsel was required to prepare and submit a proposed order on the Motions to Dismiss after the hearing. No order was ever prepared or submitted.

(R. 137). The motions, however, equally lacked specificity as to what exactly occurred on July 9, 2001; namely, which Motion to Dismiss was granted, if any, by the trial court, and what became of the Motion to Strike or Unidata's Motion to Dismiss?

Moreover, it is undisputed that neither LOP Motion was served upon Petitioners' co-counsel, Rainer and Lyons, nor did Respondents serve Rainer and Lyons with the Notices of Hearing filed on August 13 and 16, 2002, setting the LOP Motions for hearing before Judge Hauser on August 21, 2002. (R. 141-44).

⁵ Unlike Respondents, Unidata did not move for dismissal for lack of prosecution, nor has Unidata filed any additional papers below.

Lastly, it is further undisputed that McCollough never appeared at the August 21, 2002, hearing on Respondents' LOP Motions, nor informed Petitioners or their co-counsel of its existence.

On August 21 and 22, 2002, the trial court entered Orders granting Respondents' LOP Motions without further comment. (R. 145-47). Although served on McCollough, neither Order was served on Petitioners' co-counsel, Rainer and Lyons, as evidenced by the face of the Orders themselves.

Unaware of the dire status of the case due to McCollough's affirmative misrepresentations, but after repeated unanswered attempts at communication with McCollough by email, letter and telephone, Petitioners elected to retain Mann as local counsel in October 2002. (R. 280, 286, 288).

After McCollough failed to answer Mann's letters and no response was forthcoming to an October 28, 2002, email from Mann to McCollough regarding substitution of counsel, Mann reviewed the court file only to learn that Orders had already been entered granting Respondents' LOP Motions. (R. 288-289).

At no time did Petitioner's co-counsel ever receive copies of Respondents' motions, notices of hearing, or the Orders entered on their motions to dismiss the lawsuit for failure to prosecute. (R. 286-87).

D. <u>Motion to Quash Orders of Dismissal and Substitution of</u> Counsel

After discovering the dismissal, Mann immediately served Plaintiffs' Motion for Substitution of Counsel, to Quash Orders of Dismissal and for Case Management Conference on December 6, 2002, and filed said Motion on December 10, 2002. (R. 148-51).

In the Motion, Petitioners argued that the Orders granting Respondents' LOP Motions should be vacated because those Motions violated Petitioners' due process rights in that co-counsel never received them. In addition thereto, Petitioners argued that dismissal for lack of prosecution is inappropriate where, as here, a dispositive motion to dismiss remained pending for resolution by the trial court. (*Id.*)

Upon learning that Judge Hauser would soon be rotating out of the civil division effective December 31st, Petitioners noticed their Motion for Emergency Hearing before Judge Hauser on December 20, 2002. (R. 152).

On December 20, 2002, Judge Hauser conducted an Emergency Hearing on Petitioners' Motion for Substitution of Counsel, to Quash Orders of Dismissal and for Case Management Conference. (R. 183-223). At that hearing, counsel for Respondents, KTI and Huang, stated to the trial court that at the July 9, 2001, hearing: We had a motion to dismiss here and you told Mr. McCollough to draft an order [and] run it by us. That order was never submitted.

(R. 211). Counsel for Respondent, Simon, further claimed the trial court:

[V]erbally dismissed two - two or three of the counts of the amended complaint and didn't dismiss one count of the amended complaint. You [trial court] told Mr. McCollough to prepare an order. That order was never prepared.

(R. 211).

Further, the trial court admitted to having "<u>absolutely no</u> <u>recollection</u>" of the July 9, 2001, hearing or its outcome. (Emphasis added)(R. 209). The trial court reserved ruling and requested additional briefing on whether failure to serve cocounsel violated Petitioners' due process rights and continued the hearing until February 12, 2003. (R. 199, 182A-182I, 224-34, 235-50).

On January 6, 2003, Petitioners filed their Memorandum of Law in Support of their December 6, 2002, Motion to Quash Final Orders of Dismissal of August 21 and 22, 2002, and Table of Cases, wherein Petitioners elaborated on the violation of due process inherent in the failure to properly serve Respondents' LOP Motions and the pending "unfinished business" of the trial court in failing to render an order on Respondents' dispositive motions to dismiss the Amended Complaint after hearing on July 9, 2001. (R. 153-1821). On January 13, 2003, Petitioners filed a Notice of Hearing for continuation of the December 20, 2002, Emergency Hearing on Petitioners' Motion for Substitution of Counsel, to Quash Orders of Dismissal and for Case Management Conference to be conducted before Judge Hauser on February 12, 2003. (R. 182J). On January 16, 2003, Petitioners filed a Notice of Filing of the Transcript of the December 20, 2002, Emergency Hearing. (R. 183-203). On January 24 and February 7, 2003, Respondents filed their respective Memoranda of Law in Opposition to Petitioners' Motion. (R. 224-250).

E. Order Quashing Dismissals for Failure to Prosecute

On February 12, 2003, Judge Hauser conducted the continued Emergency Hearing. At that hearing, the trial court vacated the August 21 and 22, 2002, Orders granting Respondents' LOP Motions for denial of due process. The next day, on February 13, 2003, Petitioners filed a Notice of Filing the Deposition Transcript of Defendant Huang with Attachments taken on May 11, 2000. (R. 251-264).

Promptly thereafter, Petitioners sought, obtained, and filed on February 17, 2003, a Notice of Hearing for one hour on all of Respondents' dispositive motions to dismiss, i.e., Respondent, Simon's, Motion to Dismiss Amended Complaint and to Strike, Respondents, KTI and Huang's, Motion to Dismiss Amended Complaint, and Defendant, Unidata's, Motion to Dismiss Counts IV, V and VI of the Amended Complaint, to be conducted before the new trial judge, the Honorable Renee Roche, on April 3, 2003. (R. 265).

Pursuant to its oral ruling on February 12, 2003, on February 25, 2003, Judge Hauser reduced his oral pronouncements to a written Order Quashing Orders of Dismissal and Granting Motion for Substitution of Counsel. (R. 266-67). Therein, he granted Petitioners' Motion for Substitution of Counsel and vacated the Orders entered on August 21 and 22, 2002, dismissing Petitioners' case for lack of prosecution, on the ground that Respondents failed to "serve plaintiffs Atlanta attorneys with copies of their 2002 motions, notices of hearing and the orders thereon dismissing the action for lack of prosecution denied the plaintiffs due process." (R. 266).

Thereafter, on February 26, 2003, Respondents filed a Notice for Hearing on their Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Prosecution before Judge Roche on March 10, 2003, and effectively re-served the Motion by attaching the Motion thereto as Exhibit "A." (R. 267A-270). For the first time, Respondents included Petitioner's local counsel, Mann, and out of state cocounsel, Rainier, on the certificate of service.⁶ (R. 270).

⁶ For unknown reasons, only Respondent Simon's Notice of Hearing is contained in the Second Amended Record on Appeal.

On March 3, 2003, Petitioners filed their Response and Objection to Defendants' Motions to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute asserting many of the same arguments asserted in this appeal. (R. 271-73).

F. <u>Second Hearing and Order on Motions to Dismiss for Failure</u> to Prosecute

At the unreported hearing on March 10, 2003, Judge Roche took the matter under advisement and, on April 8, 2003, entered an Order of Dismissal for Lack of Prosecution granting Respondents' LOP Motions and dismissing the case without further comment. (R. 304).

On April 18, 2003, Petitioners served their Motion for Rehearing, Reconsideration and Clarification of the trial court's April 8th Order of Dismissal for Lack of Prosecution. (R 274-97). Attached to said Motion, Petitioners filed the Affidavits of Petitioner, Edwin Dean; Co-Counsel, Rainer; and local counsel, Mann, which addressed Petitioners', and their counsel's, knowledge of the July 9, 2001, hearing and the lack of communication and affirmative misrepresentations made by McCollough.

Nonetheless, on May 12, 2003, without hearing, and again, without comment, the trial court entered an Order denying Petitioners' Motion. (R. 298).

G. Appeal

Petitioners filed a timely Notice of Appeal on June 10, 2003, appealing the dismissal to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. (R. 306-309).

Subsequently, this Court suspended, then disbarred McCollough, in part, for his actions or inaction in the instant case. See The Florida Bar v. McCollough, 879 So. 2d 625 (Fla. 2004).

On February 18, 2005, the Fifth District, after rehearing, entered a written decision affirming the trial court's dismissal of the instant case for lack of jurisdiction. *See Patton v. Kera Technology, Inc.*, 895 So. 2d 1175 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005).

Petitioners timely filed a notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction on April 18, 2005, on the basis that the Fifth District opinion expressly construed the due process clauses of the Florida and/or Federal Constitutions, and is in conflict with decisions with other district court of appeals and with one or more of this Court's holdings. This Court accepted jurisdiction on September 26, 2005. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirming the dismissal of Petitioners' case for lack of prosecution is fatally flawed and must be reversed. First, Petitioners demonstrated sufficient record activity below to preclude dismissal for failure to prosecute, at a minimum, by their filings between the time when the trial court entered its order quashing the original motions dismissing the case for lack of prosecution for violation of due process and re-service of Respondents' LOP Motions.

Second, Petitioners also established good cause why their case should not be dismissed by demonstrating that Respondents' dispositive motions to dismiss the Amended Complaint remained unexplained and unresolved by the trial court; thus, "unfinished business" still remained for the trial court.

Finally, Petitioners also demonstrated that McCollough's affirmative misrepresentations and subsequent disbarring as result of his actions, or better yet, inactions in this case, effectively denied Petitioners a fair opportunity to prosecute their case, thereby also establishing good cause sufficient to preclude dismissal of this case.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. THE FIFTH DISTRICT ERRONEOUSLY AFFIRMED THE TRIAL COURT'S DISMISSAL FOR LACK OF PROSECUTION WHERE SUFFICIENT ACTIVITY APPEARED ON THE FACE OF THE RECORD AFTER THE TRIAL COURT QUASHED THE ORIGINAL DISMISSAL FOR LACK OF PROSECUTION BUT BEFORE RE-SERVICE OF RESPONDENTS' MOTIONS ON SAME.

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