IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO.: SC05-667 LOWER TRIBUNAL CASE NO. 5D03-1968

NOEL THOMAS PATTON, et al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

KERA TECHNOLOGY, INC., et al.,

Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS KERA TECHNOLOGY, INC. and GEORGE CHENG-HAO HUANG

JOHN S. SCHOENE, ESQ. JOHN S. SCHOENE, P.A. Florida Bar Number: 313203 Counsel for Respondents Suite 205 100 East Sybelia Avenue Maitland, FL 32751

Telephone: 407-644-9900 Facsimile: 407-644-1282

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

There has never been suggestion in the Court record that Mr. McCollough was not available to give an affidavit or provide deposition testimony as to what

his recollections were or what his file notes might have indicated regarding all of Petitioners' "unanswered questions." More importantly, in a deposition or in live testimony before the Court, Mr. McCollough would have been submitted to cross examination by Defendants' counsel, the other participants at the hearing in question. Once those facts were properly presented to the Court below they would have been in a posture to be disputed by Defendants' counsel by affidavit or sworn testimony and ruled upon by the Trial Court. See *Fort Walton Lumber & Supply Company v. Parrish*, 142 So.2d 346, 348 (Fla. 1st DCA 1962), requiring evidentiary hearing to resolve factual dispute over existence of "good cause" in Rule 1.420(e) context.

Petitioners had ample time to establish the relevant facts. Petitioners' Motion to Quash was filed in December 2002 and their second Rule 1.420(e) hearing was in March 2003. Petitioners had three months to be prepared and make a factual showing by providing testimony of their prior counsel or even Atlanta counsel. Yet Petitioners did nothing to establish non record facts to establish the circumstances of the alleged "unfinished business" and elected to appear at the second hearing on the LOP motions upon the mere filing of its "Objection". [R. 271-272]. The Objection was argued by Mr. Mann who had no personal

knowledge of any facts relevant to the Court's prior hearing or rulings.

It is the province of the Trial Court to resolve factual disputes. There is no way to determine at this late date whether the Trial Court would have been able to resolve the factual disputes in this case, if any. What is legally determinative, however, is that the Petitioners made no effort to establish the facts in this case for the Court's determination of whether there existed good cause. The utter lack of a factual record is the true "unfinished business" which dictates the outcome of this case in accordance with *Metropolitan Dade County v. Hall*, <u>supra</u>.

There is certainly no "mystery" [IB 19] as to whether the Trial Court felt there was an absence of facts for its determination. One has only to review the text of Petitioners' Motion for Rehearing and the attached affidavits [R. 274-297]. Petitioners repeatedly refer to "facts" appearing in their Motion for Rehearing and attached affidavits throughout Petitioners Brief, without any citation to any legal authority suggesting that the affidavits were properly before the Trial Court or their substance admissible under the Florida Rules of Evidence.

There is no indication one way or the other whether the Trial Court even considered Petitioners' belated affidavits or their sufficiency, i.e. all references to second-hand, out-of-court communications with Mr. McCollough are hearsay.

Petitioners offer no legal analysis or citation to authority on this issue either. There is no requirement that the Trial Court articulate any reasons for its denial of the Motion for Rehearing. Such a "denial without explanation is the common practice." *Stoner v. W.G., Inc.*, 300 So.2d 268 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974). Petitioners' Motion for Rehearing was denied without further hearing, thus, Defendants were never provided an opportunity to contest the legal sufficiency of the Motion for Rehearing or the affidavits themselves.

Consideration of the Motion for Rehearing is left to the sound discretion of the Trial Court. *Braznell v. Braznell*, 191 So.2d 457 (Fla.1939). What is more clear is that the Motion for Rehearing, on its face, does not articulate any basis for the Trial Courts' reconsideration, such as an oversight by the court, error on the face of the trial record or newly discovered evidence. *Braznell*, <u>Ibid</u>; *Cole v. Cole*, 130 So.2d 126 (Fla. 1961); *Stevens v. Stevens*, 666 So.2d 227 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995); *Noor v. Continental Casualty Co.*, 508 So.2d 363 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987). Petitioners have never articulated in their brief below or before this court any basis (factual or legal) for a finding that the Trial Court abused its discretion in its failure to grant the Motion for Rehearing. This is a separate and distinct issue on appeal which, apparently, Petitioners have abandoned or deemed to be without merit. See

Respondents' Argument, Part IV, infra. Stevens, supra. Noor, supra.

What cannot be disputed from the actual record before the Trial Court is that Petitioners did nothing during the one year period prior to the filing of the LOP motions. Then Petitioners did nothing for a second time when given a second opportunity to establish facts supporting any showing of good cause before Judge Roche. Petitioners even failed to have the show cause hearing transcribed. If a matter is worth litigating, trial proceedings should be reported and transcribed so an appellate court has a record to consider. *Wright v. Wright*, 431 So.2d 177 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983); *Gordon v. Burke*, 429 So.2d 36 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983). Without a transcript of the proceedings below, the "order of the Trial Court comes to [the appellate] court with a presumption of correctness." *VandenBoom v. YLB Investments, Inc.*, 687 So.2d 964 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997).

In their Brief at p. 21, Petitioners state "facts such as these beg a bright line solution to the question, 'May a plaintiff rely upon the fact that <u>a trial court has</u> failed to rule and enter a written order on a dispositive motion, <u>regardless of which</u> party if any is delegated the duty to prepare a proposed order, and preclude dismissal for failure to prosecute." (Emphasis added). The questioned posited by Appellants bears no relation to the facts presented to the Trial Court. Where did

Petitioners establish below the "fact" that the court had failed to rule? Do Petitioners now admit the "fact" that either party was directed to prepare a "proposed order?" Petitioners never attempted to establish such facts below. How can "facts such as these" which do not exist in the record below, "beg" for any relief, much less a bright line solution.

The better question for purposes of this appeal is, "How many failures, solely within the control of the Plaintiffs and their counsel, are to be overlooked or excused in order to then place the "burden" on the Trial Court to expedite the litigation rather than the Plaintiffs, all inconsistent with the longstanding application and intent of Rule 1.420(e)?" Petitioners brazenly take no responsibility for their (1) failure to select local counsel who would advance their cause, (2) failure to object to the manner of service of pleadings and orders for a period of 35 months, (3) failure to undertake any record activity for over one year, (4) failure to take any action when the "no activity" status of the case was reviewed in June 2002 by Mr. Mann at the insistence of Petitioners' Atlanta Counsel [R. 288], (5) failure to make any effort to properly present facts establishing good cause at the Rule 1.420(e) hearing despite three months to prepare and (6) failure to provide a transcript of the crucial hearing below for review by the Appellate

Court. 4

The only "bright line rule" needed in this case is: When a party fails to even attempt to establish the facts not apparent from the record to establish good cause (or provide a transcript of the hearing), it cannot seek reversal of the decision below based upon "too many unanswered [factual] questions" Petitioners position in this appeal is inconsistent with elementary principles of estoppel and logic.

To permit the Petitioners to shift the burden of "responsibility" to "the Trial Court" on the basis of "too many unanswered questions" [IB 21], a circumstance of their own creation, would visit a gross injustice on the Defendants to this action who lives have been clouded by this litigation for seven plus (7+) years. When given a second opportunity, Petitioners simply failed to establish good cause at the Rule 1.420(e) hearing. In keeping with the teachings of *Metropolitan Dade*, the LOP motions were properly granted by the Trial Court, the trier of fact below.

When you couple the abuse of discretion standard of review with the lack of a factual record and a transcript of the proceedings, how could an appellate court

⁴ The "icing on the cake" is surely the Petitioners' unabashed and wholesale reliance on the affidavits attached to their Motion for Rehearing, with no citation to any legal authority, no analysis of the breadth of the Trial Court's discretion to disregard them, and no discussion of the obvious hearsay nature of the unsworn, out-of-court communications with prior counsel, who, at the same time. Petitioners assert was untruthful.

determine with certainty that the Trial Court was "arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable?" *Canakaris*, <u>supra</u>. The Fifth District could not make such a determination after giving Petitioners more leeway than the law allows. See Part IV, infra. The Fifth District correctly ruled:

Considering the totality of the circumstances in view of the limited record on appeal the trial court's order does not constitute an abuse of discretion. (opinion below P. 1180).

III.

THE RULING IN DYE V. SECURITY PACIFIC FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC. HAS NO APPLICATION TO THE "FACTS" OF THIS CASE, BUT, IF NEED BE, DYE SHOULD BE REJECTED BY THIS COURT AS UNWISE.

A. The decision in *Dye v. Security Pacific Financial Services, Inc.*, 828 So.2d 1089 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002) represented a dramatic extension of the rule approved by this court in *Fuster-Escalona v. Wisotsky*, 781 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 2000). In *Dye*, a motion to dismiss for lack of prosecution was filed one year after the defendant filed its motion to dismiss the complaint for failure to state a cause of action. No notice of hearing was filed and of course no hearing was held. In *Dye*, the court ruled that the "duty to proceed rested with the lower court" simply because a motion to dismiss was pending, but for which no party had set for

hearing.

In this case a notice of hearing was filed, a hearing was held, the Court ruled and directed Petitioners' counsel to submit a proposed order from all indications in the record available to the Trial Court at the Rule 1.420(e) hearing [R. 137-140; 211]. These facts are far different from those in *Dye*. Even Petitioners admit the facts in *Dye* are not present here. Petitioners state "the facts in this case are more akin to *Lukowsky* ..." [IB 26]. But of course in *Lukowsky* v. *Hauser* & *Metsh*, *P.A.*, 677 So.2d 1838 (Fla. 3d DCA) rev. denied sub nom., 688 So.2d 578 (Fla. 1996) the parties were awaiting the courts' ruling after a hearing, citing *Airline Pilots Ass'n* v. *Schneemilch*, 674 So.2d 782 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), which cannot be said in this case.

The focus of the decision below was not to draw a conflict with *Dye* or *Lukowsky*, for that matter. In addition to the obvious deficiencies in the record, the focus of the Fifth District was the Petitioners' failure "to take <u>any affirmative</u> action toward resolving the case for more than one year", which "warranted dismissal." *Patton & Dean v. Kera Technology*, 895 So.2d 1175, 1178 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005) (Emphasis added). "Any affirmative action toward resolving the case" encompasses record <u>and</u> nonrecord activity of which there was absolutely no

showing to the Trial Court at the Rule 1.420(e) hearing. Surely the Trial Court cannot be said to have abused its discretion, acted arbitrarily, under the circumstances. This case is *Metropolitan Dade*, not *Dye*.

B. <u>IF THE COURT DEEMS IT NECESSARY IN DECIDING THIS CASE TO REJECT OR ENDORSE THE RULING IN DYE, IT SHOULD BE REJECTED.</u>

The implications of the decision in *Dye* are quite staggering. Is this Court prepared to rule that as a matter of routine, it is now the duty of Trial Courts and not that of the litigants to schedule hearings, every time a perfunctory motion to dismiss for failure to state a cause of action, more definite statement, failure to attach an exhibit, motion for leave to amend and motion for extension of time is filed at any stage of all civil litigation? If necessary, must the Trial Court resolve calendar conflicts of counsel or ensure availability of out-of-town counsel in order to set hearings on such pending motions? Is it then the Trial Court's duty to continuously monitor thousands of cases for such motions as they might be filed throughout the pendency of each action and thereafter insist on setting hearings when the parties of the litigation have not elected to do so? What circuit courts throughout the State have the staff to assume these duties which are no longer left to the litigants according to *Dye*?

If this is not the force of the ruling in *Dye*, there certainly is no limitation apparent from a reading of the First District's ruling.⁵

In the *Dye* setting, the litigants are hardly "left guessing as to what, if any, action should be taken" [IB 21], nor were they in this case. The *Dye* litigants simply had to schedule and file a notice of hearing or undertake any other available activity to further prosecution of their action. Is this not a minimum we can expect from members of the bar? The Fifth District struck the right balance in *Sewell Masonry Company v. DCC Construction, Inc.*, 862 So. 2d 893, 899 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003), rev. vol. dism. 870 So.2d 823 (Fla. 2004) when it stated:

The extension in *Dye* of *Lukowsky* and *Fuster-Escalona* essentially transforms the obligation to move a case toward resolution from the parties onto the trial court. We concede that judges should be encouraged to take an active role in keeping themselves informed of the cases assigned to them, but the trial judge should not be placed in the role of scheduling hearings on motions for parties who do not themselves seek rulings on their pleadings. Litigants have an affirmative obligation to move their cases to resolution and not sit back and rely on the trial court to set their hearings for them.

⁵ What if the Petitioners' attorney failed to appear at the court-scheduled hearing on a Motion to Dismiss? The case would be dismissed or is actually granting the Motion to Dismiss too severe a sanction or a trap for the unwary?

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY DENYING AND/OR REFUSING ON REHEARING TO CONSIDER THE CONDUCT OF PETITIONERS' COUNSEL AS "GOOD CAUSE" UNDER RULE 1.420(e).

For the first time in this appeal Petitioners tip toe around the issue of whether there was "an abuse of discretion" by the Trial Court's failure to grant their Motion for Rehearing and, in turn, consider the attached affidavits [IB 28]. Petitioners fail to address the issue head on, however. They devote one, conclusory sentence to this issue in their Brief [Ibid.]. Petitioners offer no legal analysis or citation to authority as to any basis for requiring the Trial Court to consider its Motion for Rehearing on the attached affidavits. See discussion, Part II, infra at p. 17-19. Similarly, Petitioners offer no factual analysis or citation to authority (before this court or the Fifth District below) to provide a basis for a finding that the court below abused its discretion in failing to grant the Motion for Rehearing.

In view of the fact that the Petitioners did not claim to have unearthed information which was not already available, the Trial Court was within its discretion to disregard the affidavits entirely and deny the Motion for Rehearing.

Noor, supra. Petitioners indicated "no just cause or excuse" in their Motion, in this

record or in any of their Briefs, for not utilizing their affidavits at the proper time. See *Mahan v. Parliament Ins. Co.*, 382 So.2d 402 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980); *Drew v. Chambers*, 133 So.2d 589 (Fla. 1st DCA 1961).

It is possible that Petitioners expect this court to "assume" some facts or legal arguments on this critical issue as it expected of the Fifth District on issues of fact [IB 19-20]. Obviously, this is not the role of the court. As stated in *Polyglycoat Corporation v. Hirsch Distributors, Inc.*, 442 So.2d 958, 960 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983),

This Court will not depart from its dispassionate role and become an advocate by second guessing counsel and advancing for him theories and defenses which counsel either intentionally or unintentionally has chosen not to mention. It is the duty of counsel to prepare appellate briefs so as to acquaint the Court with the material facts, the points of law involved, and the legal arguments supporting the positions of the respective parties. (citations omitted). When points, positions, facts and supporting authorities are omitted from the brief, a court is entitled to believe that such are waived, abandoned, or deemed by counsel to be unworthy.

Without this predicate, why are such matters even being discussed on appeal? Or is this just another rule or tenet of settled law Petitioners ask, <u>sub silentio</u>, to be ignored in their favor?

Petitioners also fail to demonstrate where they raised "attorney misconduct"

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